Effect of Health Insurance on Child and Maternal Health Outcomes in Kenya

Isabella Kiplagat

Social Sector Division Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis



KIPPRA in Brief

The Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis (KIPPRA) is an autonomous institute whose primary mission is to conduct public policy research leading to policy advice. KIPPRA's mission is to produce consistently high-quality analysis of kev issues of public policy and to contribute to the achievement of national long-term development objectives by positively influencing the decision-making process. These goals are met through effective dissemination of recommendations resulting from analysis and by training policy analysts in the public sector. KIPPRA therefore produces a body of well-researched and documented information on public policy, and in the process assists in formulating long-term strategic perspectives. KIPPRA serves as a centralized source from which the Government and the private sector may obtain information and advice on public policy issues.

Published 2013

© Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis

Bishops Garden Towers, Bishops Road

PO Box 56445-00200 Nairobi, Kenya

email: admin@kippra.or.ke website: http://www.kippra.org

tel: +254 20 2719933/4; fax: +254 20 2719951 KIPPRA LIBRARY

ISBN 9966 058 133

The Discussion Paper Series disseminates results and reflections from ongoing research activities of the Institute's programmes. The papers are internally refereed and are disseminated to inform and invoke debate on policy issues. Opinions expressed in the papers are entirely those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of the Institute.

This paper is produced under the KIPPRA Young Professionals (YPs) programme. The programme targets young scholars from the public and private sector, who undertake an intensive one-year course on public policy research and analysis, and during which they write a research paper on a selected public policy issue, with supervision from senior researchers at the Institute.

KIPPRA acknowledges generous support from the Government of Kenya, European Union (EU), African Capacity Building Foundation (ACBF), and the Think Tank Initiative of IDRC.







Abstract

It is widely acknowledged that out-of-pocket health payments are both a burden as well as a hindrance to accessing health care, thus leading to worse health outcomes. Health insurance financing mechanism has been proposed as an alternative that will lead to better health outcomes, through its apparent increase in utilization of health care. While Kenya is advocating for the uptake of health insurance, its effects on health outcomes of the vulnerable groups, among them children and mothers, has not been established. This study, therefore, examines the effect of health insurance on child and maternal health, using data from the Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2008/2009. A logistic model is estimated, and we conclude that while health insurance does not show any beneficial effects on child health as measured by child mortality, there is some evidence that health insurance improves maternal health. Other control variables such as wealth index, employment, distance to health facility and area of residence are equally important in determining child and maternal health. Policies that increase the uptake of health insurance are likely to enhance maternal health. Similarly, there is need to ensure even distribution of health facilities in the country. Further, strategies aimed at poverty reduction, employment creation and education attainment, especially post-primary level of education, should be enhanced to improve child and maternal health in the country.

Abbreviations and Acronyms

BMI	Body Mass Index
CBHI	Community Based Health Insurance
CRS	Categorical Rating Scale
GoK	Government of Kenya
GSOEP	German Socio-Economic Panel
IMR	Infant Mortality Rate
KDHS	Kenya Demographic and Health Survey
KNBS	Kenya National Bureau of Statistics
MDGs	Millennium Development Goals
NHIF	National Hospital Insurance Fund
NHIS	National Health Insurance Survey
NSHIF	National Social Health Insurance Fund
NSSF	National Social Security Fund
OOP	Out-of-Pocket
RMHS	Rural Mutual Health Scheme
VHI	Vietnam's Health Insurance
who	World Health Organization

1.0

Table of Contents

Ab	stractiii
Ab	breviations and Acronymsv
1.	Introduction 1
	1.1 Background to the Study
	1.2 Statement of the Problem
	1.3 Research Questions
	1.4 Objectives of the Study
	1.5 Justification for the Study
2.	Literature Review
	2.1 Theoretical Literature
	2.2 Empirical Literature Review
	2.3 Overview of Literature
3.	Methodology13
	3.1 Conceptual Framework
	3.2 Estimation Model 14
	3.3 Description of Variables
	3.4 Data Type and Sources
4.	Data Analysis
	4.1 Descriptive Statistics
	4.2 Empirical Results
5.	Conclusion and Policy Recommendations27
	5.1 Conclusion27
	5.2 Policy Recommendations
	5.3 Areas for Further Research
	References
	Appendix

1. Introduction

1.1 Background to the Study

There is a huge disparity between the developed world and the developing countries in terms of health care financing (Pabblo and Schieber, 2006). According to World Health Organization (WHO, 2011), global health expenditure is approximately 8.5 per cent of global gross domestic product (GDP). Of the total global spending, only 12 per cent (USS 350 billion) occurs in low income countries. Worse still, health care financing in these countries relies heavily on out-of-pocket (OOP)¹ expenditure. The World Health Organization (WHO) statistics indicate that in 2008, OOP expenditure in low income countries was 85.7 per cent compared to 38 per cent of private health expenditure² in high income countries (WHO, 2011).

In Kenya, the private sector is the single largest contributor of total health care financing at 37 per cent. Other sources of health care financing in the country include donors and government, who fund 34 per cent and 29 per cent of the total health spending, respectively (Government of Kenya, 2010a). Kenya's OOP expenditure as a percentage of total private health expenditure was 77.2 per cent in 2008, with only 8.8 per cent coming from the private prepaid plans (WHO, 2011).

Largely, out-of-pocket health expenditures are both a burden and a hindrance to health care access and utilization. Typically, health shocks lead to income losses by households both in terms of payment for medical bills, as well as inability to work. The negative impact is particularly high for poor households. As such, even a small amount of health care costs on common illnesses can be catastrophic³ for the deprived (Xu *et al.*, 2003; Saksena *et al.*, 2006). In African countries where the main source of health financing is OOP, households resort to borrowing and selling of assets to cope with losses due to illness, hence perpetuation of poverty (Leive and Xu, 2008). Studies on impact of user fees⁴ on health care access and utilization indicate that user charges may actually lead to delayed health service visits or low utilization of health care (Lagarde and Palmer, 2008; Sepehri and Chernomas, 2001; Mwabu *et al.*, 1995).

¹Out-of-pocket health payments refer to the payments made by households at the point they receive health care services.

² Private health expenditure is an aggregation of the out-of-pocket expenditure and private prepaid plans.

³ Catastrophic health expenditure means spending more than 40% of the income available on health care after meeting the basic needs (WHO Factsheet N°320, 2007).

⁴ This is a form of OOP and refers to the payments made by households at the point they receive health care services.

In countries where households have to pay through OOP when they use health care services, prepayment schemes commonly referred to as health insurance are considered as the most preferred financing mechanisms (Drouin, 2007; WHO, 2000). Nyman (1999) opines that health insurance not only protects individuals from financial risks, but also provides access to health care that would otherwise be unaffordable. Existing literature documents the difficulties that the uninsured, as opposed to the insured. face in accessing health care, hence their consequent poor health status (Baker *et al.*, 2006; Jütting, 2003). Health insurance is linked to better health status (Wang *et al.*, 2009; Dow and Schmeer, 2003; Franks *et al.*, 1993) and also higher labour force participation and incomes (Hadley, 2003). Health risk protection not only benefits the individual that is covered, but also their households. Healthy parents are in a position of taking care of healthy children, who in turn become productive in adulthood (Kasule, 2012). Health insurance also protects households from deprivations of basic requirements such as food and education (Ruger, 2007).

The need for health insurance in Kenya has been recognized by policy makers for quite some time now, as exemplified by the establishment of the National Hospital Insurance Fund (NHIF) in 1966 through an Act of Parliament. Initially, NHIF was designed to provide health care to workers in the formal sector and their families. Over the years, however, NHIF has been undergoing transformations aimed at ensuring equity and access to health care services by all Kenyans. For instance, the enactment of the 1998 NHIF Act saw the extension of the scheme's coverage to include the self employed and the informal sector workers (Mathauer *et al.*, 2008). In the recent past, the government's effort has been to introduce and implement the National Social Health Insurance Fund (NSHIF) aimed at covering both the outpatient and inpatient hospital services for the entire population (Currin *et al.*, 2007).

In addition, the government had earlier established the National Social Security Fund (NSSF) in 1965 so as to serve as a social security for Kenyan workers. Although the fund provides financial security to its members, it is a form of health insurance scheme since it provides basic security against eventualities such as employment injury, maternity, illness and/or disability as well as death. Currently, NSSF covers employees in the formal and informal sector.

Besides, the private insurance sector, though small, plays an important role in financing of health care in the country (Kimani *et al.*, 2004). Compared to NHIF, which has over 2 million principal members, private health insurance has about 600,000 members. The two distinct players in this sector include general insurance companies involved in a wide range of insurance, including health insurance, to a small extent, and health insurance providers who are also health



Figure 1.1: Forms of health prepayment schemes in Kenya

care providers operating their own clinics (Barnes *et al.*, 2010). Community Based Health Insurance (CBHI), another form of health insurance existing under the private sector, is organized at the community level. The documented number of this form of health prepayment scheme in the country is 178, with a possibility that there could be many of them that have yet to be identified (Owii, 2008).

Uptake of health insurance (both private and public) in Kenya is low, with only about 10 per cent of the population having some form of coverage. To be precise, only 7 per cent of women and 11 per cent of men are covered by health insurance (KNBS, 2010).

It is imperative at this point to note that other than the government's proposal to shift from user fees to prepaid health financing mechanism, a policy of flat registration fee of Ksh 10 and 20, respectively, at the lowest level of health care (the dispensary) and at the second lowest level of health care facility (the health centre) was introduced in July 2004. The policy exempted children aged below 5 years and specific health conditions such as malaria and tuberculosis from payment. Further, all fees for deliveries in public health facilities, including the lower level health facilities, were abolished in July 2007. Despite these policies, studies at the national and district level indicate that out-of-pocket payments (formal or informal) remain the main source of health care financing. This

Source: Author' computation from KNBS, 2010

implies that provision of heath care is not entirely free. Studies conducted at the district level, for instance, indicate that households still pay for health services necessitated by shortage of drugs in the health facilities and other informal costs (DfID, 2009; Chuma *et al.*, 2009).

Health financing mechanisms may be used to improve access to health care, while protecting individuals against financial hardships, ultimately leading to an improvement in health outcomes. In Kenya, while effort towards enhancement of health outcomes has been made, progress towards improvement of both child and maternal health remains a big challenge. The country, for instance, has made considerable gains in the reduction of infant mortality (IMR) and under-five child mortality since 1990. The rates have, however, remained high and far below the MDGs target to which the government is committed to reducing, thus leading to the country being classified as a no progress zone (Bhutta *et al.*, 2010). According to Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (2010), the country's under-five mortality was 74 deaths per 1,000 live births.

Maternal health indicators, on the other hand, are worrisome, with the maternal mortality rate reported at a high of 488 deaths compared to 414 per 100,000 in 2003 (KNBS, 2010). While this is below the Sub-Saharan average of 640 maternal deaths per 100,000, the rate is far much higher than the country's target of reducing maternal mortality by 75 per cent to 147 maternal deaths per 100,000 by 2015. Majority of maternal deaths occur during child delivery. As a result, the World Health Organization has identified delivery in a health care facility, as well as skilled birth attendances, as key indicators of the fifth Millennium Development Goal (MDG). These indicators are still poor in the country, with statistics showing a slight improvement in percentage of the births delivered in hospital from 40.1

target) 26
26
33
85
147
90
90

Table 1.1: Trends in selected child and maternal indicators

per cent to 42.6 per cent in 2009. Similarly, skilled birth attendances improved from 40.1 per cent in 2003 to 44.0 per cent (KNBS, 2010). The trends in selected child and maternal health indicators are given in Table 1.1.

Health financing is one of the strategies of improving health status of a population. Amid the various ongoing discussions on the possible policies of health care financing, it is important to investigate the possible effects of health insurance financing mechanism on health outcomes of various categories of the population, and particularly the vulnerable that includes children and women.

1.2 Statement of the Problem

The cost of seeking health care is a key predicament in accessing health care in Kenya (KNBS, 2010; Government of Kenya, 2009a). Despite the government's effort to abolish user fees through various policies, health financing is still reliant on OOP payments, thus making accessibility to health services difficult.

Health insurance financing mechanism plays an important role both as a hedge against financial risk as well as an avenue for pooling the meager household resources so as to increase access to health services. For this reason, various countries such as Ghana, Rwanda and Bolivia³ have been focusing on diversitying health financing mechanisms, especially social and community health insurance to cover maternal and child health services. The result of this intervention has been better health outcomes associated with increased utilization of health care as well as improved quality of care (Gobah and Liang, 2011; Schneider and Dmytraczenko, 2003).

In Kenya, health insurance has been identified as a possible financing mechanism that will lead to equity in access to health care. This has been based on the evidence that user fees discourage health care utilization in the country (Government of Kenya, 2009a; Mwabu *et al.*, 1995; Mbugua *et al.*, 1995). Whereas health insurance has been in existence for many years, its role in improving health outcomes, especially for the vulnerable population, has received little empirical analysis in Kenya. One study by Gakii (2010) sought to investigate the role of health insurance on individual self reported health status. The study, however, did not explicitly examine the effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes, hence the need for the current study to enable policy decisions on health financing for maternal and child health care.

³This is one of the poorest countries in Latin America.

Effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes in Kenya

1.3 Research Questions

- (i) What is the effect of health insurance on child health in Kenya?
- (ii) To what extent does health insurance affect maternal health?

1.4 Objectives of the Study

The overall objective of this study is to examine the effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes in Kenya.

Specifically, the study will:

- (i) Examine the effect of health insurance cover on child health outcomes
- (ii) Determine the effect of health insurance on maternal health
- (iii) Deduce policy recommendations

1.5 Justification for the Study

Kenya, just like any other developing country, aspires to improve the overall well being of her population by addressing all key health indicators as exemplified in various policy documents, among them the Constitution. In particular, there have been numerous calls to improve health outcomes among the vulnerable population, including children and women, both internationally as embodied in the health related Millennium Development Goals (MDGs) and nationally as envisaged in the country's blueprint document, the Vision 2030 (Government of Kenya, 2007).

In an effort to promote equity of access to health care by all Kenyans, the country has proposed a shift from the user fees or OOP payments to financing health care through health insurance schemes (Government of Kenya, 2007).

This study comes at a time when there is extensive debate about potential health financing reforms. Some of the financing arrangements put forth range from userfees with waivers for the poor, the introduction of social health insurance, and extending the role of the private sector in financing health care through voluntary health insurance (Government of Kenya, 2009b). This study thus endeavours to provide an insight into the association between health insurance financing mechanism and child and maternal health outcomes.

2. Literature Review

2.1 Theoretical Literature

There are three approaches that can be used in assessing the role of health insurance. The first perspective is the financial security theory, which argues that people purchase health insurance in order to avoid financial risk. The proponents of this school of thought base their arguments on the expected utility theory, which postulates that people generally prefer certainty to risk. Health care needs are generally unpredictable (Arrow, 1963). Risk-averse individuals would therefore purchase actuarially fair health insurance in order to level out their income in case of the unfortunate state of illness (Cutler and Zeckhauser, 2000).

Nyman (1999), however, provides an alternative explanation by arguing that health insurance benefit is not limited to financial risk avoidance, but also that insurance has an access value. Health insurance makes medical care that would otherwise be inaccessible to be affordable. Murray echoes this argument by noting that health insurance is a tool by which people access health care. Ruger (2007) provides a moral foundation for health insurance that is based on Aristotelian concept of human flourishing. She observes that health insurance creates conditions of human flourishing by keeping people healthy as well as protecting ill individuals and their households from insecurity and harmful deprivations of essential goods, including food and education. Health insurance not only improves the health of the person covered by health insurance, but also the household of such an individual.

The final approach arises from the view that health insurance may suggest health care services are provided at zero or low monetary cost, a characteristic termed as moral hazard (Pauly, 1968). This would be presented as situations where households would reduce preventive measures (ex-ante moral hazard) as health insurance makes it easier to seek health care when sick (ex-post moral hazard). Cutler and Zeckhauser (2000), however, argue that the idea of moral hazard in the context of health insurance is not considered a serious issue, since individuals are not expected to put their health or that of their children at risk, as is the case with material assets, since a loss of health is consequential.

Given the argument that health insurance is not necessarily problematic, particularly in the context of low income countries where there are substantial unmet health needs, this study borrows from the second approach, in which health insurance is seen as an avenue for promoting health to explain the role of health insurance in improving maternal and child health outcomes. Grossman (1972) in his health production model observes that investment in health is a function of medical input, as well as other market goods. Health insurance is therefore

considered as an input in the health production model, since it leads to utilization of health care, one of the most important investments in health.

2.2 Empirical Literature Review

It is presumed that health insurance improves health status of the insured through increased utilization of health care. The empirical literature discusses two strands of literature. To start with, a number of studies have investigated the role of insurance in improving health care access. In Germany, Hullegie and Klein (2010) sought to investigate the effect of private health insurance on medical utilization as indicated by the number of doctor visits as well as number of nights spent in the hospital. Utilizing survey data from the German Socio Economic Panel (GSOEP), this study concluded that private health insurance had a significant negative effect on the number of doctor visits. This was explained by the fact that privately insured individuals were given more medical attention compared to the publicly insured. The effect of private health insurance on the number of nights spent in the hospital was, however, not significant.

Assessing the Mexican Universal Health Insurance Programme (Seguro Popular), which aimed at providing financial protection for the poor, King et al. (2009) established that while the programme reduced overall catastrophic as well as out of pocket expenditures for outpatient and inpatient medical services, the utilization of health care by the poor had not increased. In contrast, Sosa-Rubi et al. (2009) established that Seguro Popular actually improved access to health services by diabetic insured adults in Mexico.

Applying a difference-in-difference methodology on longitudinal survey data, Chen *et al.* (2006) examined the effects of Taiwan's National Health Insurance on utilization of health care by the elderly. The study concluded that health insurance improved access to both outpatient and inpatient health care services. Moreover, there was a reduction in inequalities in access to health care between the high and low-income individuals as a result of health insurance coverage.

With the growing interest in Community Based Health Insurance (CBHI) in low and middle income countries, studies have sought to examine its role in health improvement. Gnawali *et al.* (2009) conducted a study on the effect of CBHI on utilization of modern health services in Burkina Faso using household survey data collected in Nouna District. The results of the study indicate that CBHI increased the chances of utilization of health care, although there was no effect on inpatient utilization. Similar results are echoed by Ekman (2007) who concludes that health insurance broadly increases probability of health care use, although some programmes showed insurance effect, while others did not.

Equally, Zhou *et al.* (2009) investigated the effect of Rural Mutual Health Scheme (RMHS) on outpatient service utilization in China, applying random effect models on three year panel data. The findings indicated that although the community health insurance scheme increased the number of outpatient visits in Chinese villages, the same seemed to decrease with the introduction of supply side policies.

While few empirical studies conducted in Kenya investigate the effect of health insurance on health utilization per se, various studies have examined the effect of user fees, an alternative health care financing mechanism, on health care utilization. For instance, Mwabu *et al.* (1995) established that outpatient visits decreased by 52 per cent following the introduction of user fees in 1989. Likewise, Mbugua *et al.* (1995) indicated that user charges negatively affected the use of health care by the poor. Ngugi (1999) shows that whereas there was an increase in the use of private health facility, mainly the missionary hospitals following the introduction of user fees, use of public health facilities declined.

Recent work by Gakii (2010) in Kenya examined the role of health insurance on health care demand and choice of health care provider. Employing a logit model on data from the 2007 Kenya Household Expenditure and Utilization Survey, she established that individuals with insurance reported a higher probability of seeking health care as well as higher chances of visiting private as opposed to public health facility.

The second strand of literature goes beyond utilization of health care to examine the effect of health prepayment schemes on various indicators of health, including self reported health status, mortality and birth weight, among others. Empirical studies mentioned earlier, among them Hullegie and Klein (2010) as well as Gakii (2010), went ahead to investigate the role of health insurance on reported health status, and concluded that the insured as opposed to the uninsured, reported better health status.

Similarly, Wang *et al.* (2009) using the difference-in-difference in combination with the propensity score matching estimated the impact of Rural Mutual Health Care (RMHC) on self-perceived health as measured by 5-Point Categorical Rating Scale (CRS) and EQ-5D instruments. The difference-in-difference method was applied to remove time invariant unobservables, while the propensity score match was used to eliminate selection bias on observables. The study made use of longitudinal data collected through surveys from households and individuals in a baseline survey, one year prior to the intervention in 2002 and an impact evaluation survey undertaken two years after the intervention in 2005. They found that expansion of RMHC led to improved health status of the insured and the poor. The impact of the health insurance expansion was higher among individuals aged between 35-54 years, as opposed to those aged between 15-35 years and among those who were sick.

Following the expansion of Medicaid (public health insurance) eligibility in the US to include low income children, Currie and Gruber (1996) investigated the effect of this expansion on child health care utilization as well as child mortality. Using linear probability model on National Health Interview Survey (NHIS) data collected between 1984 and 1992, they pointed out that there was a significant reduction in child mortality.

Hanratty (1996) established that the introduction of Canadian National Health Insurance led to a decrease in infant mortality. This study employed a logistic regression on panel data obtained from Census of Canada and Canada's Division of Vital Statistics from 1960 to 1975. The results, on the other hand, were not clear on the effect of national health insurance on increased birth weight, although they indicate that the overall incidence of cases of low birth weight decreased.

A study on the adoption of Vietnam's Health Insurance (VHI) by Wagstaff and Pradhan (2005) estimates the impact of the National Health Insurance on health outcomes as measured by height and weight for children and Body Mass Index (BMI) for adults. The study included other variables perceived to impact on health outcomes, such as medical care, food consumption and expenditure on water. Using the double-difference estimator on panel data from the Vietnam Living Standard Survey (VLSS), they found positive impacts of insurance on child and adult health; that is, children in the insured group grew faster and the adults had improved Body Mass Index (BMI). Similarly, they conclude that VHI increases the probability of contact with health care providers and non-medical household consumption since it lowers out-of-pocket health expenditures.

Still, a study conducted by Chen and Jin (2010) in China sought to establish whether New Cooperative Medical Scheme (NCMS), a type of health insurance targeting rural population, led to better health and educational outcomes. The study used data from the 2006 China Agriculture Census, and health outcomes were measured using child and pregnancy mortality. Child enrolment, on the other hand, was used as a proxy for educational outcomes. The results indicate that households with NCMS had better school enrolments and lower child and pregnancy mortality than the uninsured, although there was no effect on health outcome when the difference-in-difference propensity score method was controlled for. The NCMS, to some extent, reduced delay of enrolment in school for some six-year-olds. The results contradict those of Lei and Lin (2009), which show that NCMC did not improve health status in China. In Rwanda, Binagwaho *et al.* (2012) sought to establish the impact of Mutuelle, a community based health insurance, on child health as indicated by height-forage z-scores. Using a probit model together with instrumental variable approach on data from the 2010 Rwandan Demographic and Health Survey (RDHS), they find that health insurance increases the likelihood of seeking health care when ill, consequently leading to better height-for-age z-score of insured children.

Dow and Schmeer (2003) examined the effect of health insurance on infant and child mortality in Costa Rica. Using data from county-level statistics and national population census collected between 1973 and 1974, they conclude that health insurance and mortality are strongly related, before controlling for other time-varying variables. However, after controlling for changes in other correlated maternal, household and community characteristics, the fixed effects models indicate that insurance expansion appeared to explain only a small portion of the mortality change. In the same line, while correcting for endogeneity, Dow and Schmeer (2003) confirm that health insurance expansion in Costa Rica did not result in a statistically significant effect in child mortality.

In relation to maternal health indicators, studies have also been carried out to establish the relationship between health insurance and such maternal health indicators as health use of prenatal care and delivery in a hospital. Mensah et al. (2010) carried out a study to examine the effect of National Health Insurance Scheme on child health as measured by infant deaths/birth complications and maternal health as proxied by uptake of prenatal care and birth at a hospital in Ghana. Advancing from the traditional regression approach by Xiao et al. (2010), they use Propensity Score Matching techniques on survey data collected from a sample of 2,000 respondents (400 NHIS members and 1,600 non-members) in 2007, and found that members of NHIS were more likely to use prenatal care, deliver in hospitals, and be attended by trained professionals compared with nonmembers. They were also less likely to experience birth complications and infant deaths.

2.3 Overview of Literature

The studies reviewed have used different measures of health outcomes, among them mortality and self reported health status of various population groups, as well as access to health care services to establish the effect of health insurance on health. The findings of the different studies **are** diverse, with some studies indicating that health insurance has some significant effect on some indicators of health, while others indicate otherwise.

Effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes in Kenya

In Kenya, while there has been an attempt to expand the level of health insurance coverage, literature is thin on the overall effect of health insurance ownership on health outcomes of various categories of the population. The study by Gakii (2010) used self reported health status as a measure of health, with the results indicating that health insurance improved health status. The current study adds to the existing quantitative literature by examining the role of health insurance and on the health outcomes of the high need groups in Kenya, in particular, the under-five and mothers.

3. Methodology

3.1 Conceptual Framework

The most reasonable pathway through which health insurance affects health status is through improved access to and utilization of medical care. In particular, health insurance financing mechanism is a substitute for out-of-pocket payments, thus leading to a reduction in the cost of health care. By lifting the financial constraint, access to both preventive and curative health care should be increased. The latter aspect, however, is conditional on the supply of health care facilities and the quality of treatment received. Assuming that the quality of care is given, we would expect a direct positive influence of health care (Binagwaho *et al.*, 2012).

To examine the effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes, this study adopts the household production model as postulated by Grossman (1972) and follows the health production framework as illustrated by Dow and Schmeer (2003). In this model, insurance is hypothesized to lower price and increase demand for health care. This in turn leads to an improvement in health status. This phenomenon implies health care is an input for the health production function.

Health is a function of medical inputs M_{i} , non-medical health inputs S_i (such as sanitation), the health environment E_c in community c and the unobserved health/biological endowment: Θ_i

Demand for medical input is chosen by individuals or households to maximize health with limited resources. Health insurance I_i increases health care demand, which also depends on health infrastructure P_c (including time dimensions associated with geographic access), socio-economic characteristics W_i such as household wealth and education attainment levels, in addition to health and unobserved preferences π_i :

 $M_{i} = M(I_{i}, W_{i}, P_{i}, H_{i}, \pi_{i})....(ii)$

Non-medical inputs S_i depend on similar factors as M_p although the cross-price effect of insurance may be ignorable.

$$S_{i} = S(W_{i}, P_{i}, H_{i}, \pi_{i})....(iii)$$

Health insurance may be considered as endogenous to the system, depending on factors such as socioeconomic status, health care access barriers, health status and unobserved preference for medical care:

 $I_{i} = I(W_{i}, P_{i}, H_{i}, \pi_{i})....(iv)$

The following expression is interpreted as the reduced form health demand function:

 $H_{i} = H(I_{i}, W_{i}, P_{i}, E_{c}, \theta_{i}, \pi_{i})....(v)$

Where H_i is a measure of health outcome that solely depends on health insurance I_i , socio-economic characteristics W_i , health infrastructure P_c , health environment E_c , and unobserved factors captured by Θ_i and π_i .

3.2 Estimation Model

To estimate the effect of health insurance status on child health outcomes, the following equation was estimated, while controlling for individual, household, environmental and socio-economic attributes:

 $Y_{i_{l}} = \beta_{i_{l}} + \beta_{1}I_{i_{l}} + \beta_{2}X_{i_{l}}^{P} + \beta_{3}X_{i_{l}}^{L} + \beta_{4}X_{i_{l}}^{W} + \beta_{5}X_{i_{l}}^{A} + \varepsilon_{i_{l}}.....(vi)$

where Y_{ij} = the child *i* health outcome in household *j*. Child mortality was used as a measure of child health outcome.

 I_i = a dummy variable representing the health insurance status of the household head.

 $X_{y}^{\mu}, X_{y}^{\mu}, X_{y}^{\mu}, X_{y}^{\mu}$ here vectors of health infrastructure, for instance distance to the nearest hospital, environmental (sanitation), socio-economic (education, wealth index and employment status) as well as individual attributes.

 \mathcal{E}_i = stochastic error term.

In the analysis of child health, the variable of interest is the survival of a child to the fifth year of birth or death of the child before reaching five years in the sample. The child survival outcome variable is binary in nature, where the child survives or not. As a result, the effects of health insurance and other covariates on the probability of a child's death was estimated using the logistic regression.

The standard logistic regression model is specified below:

 $\Pr{oh(Y=1|X)} = \frac{\exp^{Y|\theta}}{1+\exp^{Y|\theta}}....(vii)$

where the probability for the realization of the event Y = i (in our case child survives to its fifth birthday, else 0), conditional on the covariate vector X is determined by the logistic function of the covariate vector X and the vector of coefficients β .

To examine the effect of health insurance on maternal health, equation vi is estimated where Y_{ij} now represents maternal health outcome of mother i in household j as measured by skilled birth attendance. The control variable

 $I_{ij}, X_{ij}^{P}, X_{ij}^{E}, X_{ij}^{W}, X_{ij}^{A}$ are as defined in equation vi

In the analysis of maternal health, the outcome variable is binary in nature and the probability of realization of the event Y=1 in this case is utilization of skilled birth attendance as opposed to none; that is Y=0. The standard logistic model in equation vii is utilized in this analysis.

3.3 Description of Variables

3.3.1 Outcome variables

Following the model specification, we describe the main outcome variables in this study. The first outcome variable is child mortality. This variable is aimed at measuring child health. The variable is coded as a binary variable, taking the value of 1 if a child is reported to have survived to the fifth year, and 0 if the child died before the age of five years.

The second outcome variable is skilled birth attendance, which is used as a proxy for maternal health. The variable is also coded as a binary outcome taking the value of 1 if a woman is attended by a skilled birth attendant, that is, a doctor or a trained nurse, and 0 otherwise.

3.3.2 Independent variables

The independent variable of interest in this study is health insurance status of individual in the households. Crucially, the 2008-2009 Kenya Demographic and Health Survey (KDHS) for the first time collected data on health insurance, where individuals were coded as insured if they reported having health insurance. Generally, children have the same health insurance status as their parents, an assumption that we make in this study. Distance to hospital was also considered a key variable in this study, since the variable can be a barrier both to the health care access as well as a determining factor in the uptake of health insurance as explained in the conceptual framework.

Other explanatory variables controlled for include: child (child's gender, birth order and single birth) and mother characteristics (educational attainment, age) as well as household characteristics such as gender of household head, employment status, wealth index, household size, sanitation, household's use of treated nets and area of residence. The specific variables included in the analysis are defined in Table 3.1 and 3.2.

Variables	Measurement/definition of vari alles	Expected sign
Outcome variables		
Child mortality	Proxy for child health. Dummy variable (Child Survives=1, clse 0)	
Explanatory variables		
Heilth Insurance status	Household health insurance status (1=has insurance cover, 0 otherwise)	Positive (+)
Gender of the child	Sex of the child (male=1,female=2)	Positive (+)
Single hith	Dummy (twin birth=0, single hirth=1)	Positive (+)
Birth order	Order of hirth of the child	Positive (+)
Age of the mother	Age group of the mother. Categorized into: 1=15- 24, 2=25-34 and 3=35 and above	Positive (+)
Education	Highest level of education obtained by the household head. Categorized into: O=none, 1=primary, 2=secondary and 3= higher	Positive (+)
Employment status	A dummy variable (1= currently working, o=othc.rws.b,	Positive (+)
Gender of the household head	A dummy variable (male =1, female=2)	Indeterminate
Wealth index	Proxy for economic welfare ranging from t= poor, 2= middle, and 5= rich.	positive (+)
Household size	Number of household members	Negative (-)
Alare of residence	Adummy variable (1=rural,2=urban)	Pusitive (+)
Sanitation	A dummy variable (1=toilet facility, 0=no facility)	Positive (+)
Distance to the nearest bealth facility	Proxied by time taken to fetch water (0= premises, 1=less than 1 hour, 2=1 hour and	Negative (-)

Table 3.1: Summary of the study variables-child health

3.4 Data Type and Sources

This study used cross-sectional household survey data from the 2008-2009 Kenya Demographic and Health Survey (KDHS). This survey is nationally representative and uses multistage cluster sampling technique to $collect_f$ data on the health situation of the households in the country, including maternal and child health indicators such as mortality and nutritional status. The 2008-2009 KDHS is the latest available KDHS data set that, for the first time, included questions pertaining to health insurance status of respondents, besides detailed information on a series of personal characteristics including age, gender, marital status, area of residence, highest level of education attained, socio-economic status as measured by wealth index, in addition to the household characteristics.

L

.)

Variables	Measurement/definition of variables	Expected sign
Outcome variable		
Skilled birth attendance	Proxy for maternal health. Dummy variable (Mother utilized skilled birth attendance=1, else 0)	
Explanatory variables		
Health insurance status	Household health insurance status (1=has insurance cover, o otherwise)	Positive (+)
Birth order	Order of birth of the child	Positive (+)
Age of the mother	Age group of the mother. Categorized into:1=15-24, 2=25-34 and 3=35 and above	Positive (+)
Age at first birth	Mother's age at first birth	Positive (+)
Education (Highest level of education obtained by the household head Categorized into: o=none, 1=primary, 2=secondary and 3= higher	Positive (+)
Employment status	A dummy variable (1= currently working. 0=otherwise)	Positive (+)
Gender of the household head	A dummy variable (male =1, female=2)	Indeterminate
Wealth index	Proxy for economic welfare ranging from 1= poor, 2= middle, and 5= rich	Positive (+)
Ilousehold size	Number of household members	Negative (-)
Place of residence	A dummy variable (1=rural,2=urban)	Positive (+)
Distance to the nearest health facility	Proxied by time taken to fetch water (0= premises, 1=less than 1 hour, 2=1 hour and above)	Negative (-)

Table 3.2: Summary of the study variables-maternal health

Effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes in Kenya

4. Data Analysis

4.1. Descriptive Statistics

Table 4.1 presents various individual and household characteristics of the sample. Interpreting the mean, majority of the mothers (54%) were aged 35 years and above. About 34 per cent were aged between 25 and 34 years, while 12 per cent were in the age bracket of 15 and 24 years. The mean age at first birth was 19 years. As regards education, majority of the respondents had primary level of education (56%) compared to 16 per cent and 4 per cent with secondary and post-secondary level of education, respectively. Twenty four (24) per cent reported that they had no education; 79 per cent of the respondents were rural based and 21 per cent urban areas. Most households were male headed (64%). The average number of household members was 6, while that of the number of children under five years was 1.

The socio-economic status as measured by wealth index indicates that most of the respondents were poor (46%). The average for the middle and rich wealth index was 19 per cent and 35 per cent, respectively. The mean number employed was about 64 per cent of the study population, and only 6 per cent has some form of health insurance.

Information on children was collected from birth history as reported by the mother. On average, 51.14 per cent of the children were male. The birth order number of the majority was 3. Overall, households reported that 90 per cent of their children aged between 0 and 37 years were alive as opposed to 10 per cent. However, taking into consideration the survival status of the under five children, 74 per cent had survived to the fifth year, while 26 per cent did not.

On maternal health indicators, majority of mothers delivered at home (58%) in relation to 32 per cent and 10 per cent deliveries in public and private hospitals, respectively. Correspondingly, skilled birth attendance during delivery was 44 per cent, while the non-skilled birth attendance was 56 per cent.

Table 4.2 summarizes health insurance status across selected sample characteristics. From the results, among the young mother's aged between 15 and 24 years, majority were uninsured (98%) as opposed to the insured (2%). The percentage of mothers aged between 25 and 34 years who were insured were 6 per cent, while the uninsured were 94 per cent. The proportion was similar for those aged over 35 years.

Considering education attainment, hardly 1 per cent of those with no education were insured in contrast with almost 100 per cent who were uninsured. Of those

Characteristic Frequency Mcon (%) Mother's age 2,628 11.66 15-24 7,789 34.57 25-34 12.117 53.77 >35 Age at first birth 19 Education level-Highest level of education No education=0 23.78 5.359 Primary=1 12.542 55.66 16.26 Secondary=2 3.665 Post-secondary=3 968 4.30 Area of residence rural=1 17,862 79.27 urban=2 4.672 20.73 Number of household members 6 Number below age five 1 Gender of the household head Male=1 14.463 64.18 Female=2 8,071 35.82 Wealth Index Poor=1 10,471 46.47 Middle=2 4,211 18.69 Rich=3 7,852 34.85 Health insurance cover 1=health insurance 21,250 94.41 o=no health insurance 1,259 5.59 **Employment status** o=No 8,095 36.07 1=yes 14,345 63.93 Child sex Male 11,523 51.14 Female 11,011 48.86 Birth order 1. No. Child survival status (all) 1=1.62 2,205 9.79 o=no 20.329 90.21 Child survival status (under five years) 1=yes 5,706 74.31

Table 4.1: Sample characteristics description

Effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes in Kenya

0=n0	1,973	1	25.69	
Autornal health			A second seco	
Home=0	3.477	I	57.40	:
Pholic Actility =1	1,946		32.12	
Public facility=2	635	1	10.48	
Skilled birth attendance	and the second second			
Yes=1	2.638	ł	43.54	1
Ng=0	3,421		56.46	

Source: Author's computation

with primary level of education, majority were uninsured (97%), compared to 3 per cent with some form of health insurance. Within the secondary level of education, less were insured at 12 per cent than the uninsured at 88 per cent. At the highest level of education (post-secondary), 49 per cent were insured compared to 51 per cent uninsured. A higher uptake of health insurance at higher levels of educational attainment is expected, since the educated are likely to make informed choices concerning their health.

With regard to area of residence, only 4 per cent of those located in the rural areas were insured, while 96 per cent were uninsured. On the other hand, 13 per cent of the urban residents were insured compared to the uninsured who accounted for 87 per cent. Six (6) per cent of the male household heads were insured, while 94 per cent were uninsured. In the case of female household heads, 5 per cent reported they had some form of health insurance as opposed to 95 per cent with none.

As for wealth index, in the poor category, a dismal 1 per cent were insured against 99 per cent uninsured. In the middle category, 4 per cent were insured in contrast to 96 per cent with no insurance. For the rich, the insured and uninsured were 13 per cent and 87 per cent, respectively. Turning to employment status, 7 per cent of those employed were insured, while 93 per cent were uninsured. Among the unemployed, only 3 per cent were insured, whereas 97 per cent were uninsured. Both wealth index and employment status generally indicate the affordability to purchase health insurance.

Lastly, 13 per cent of those nearer the hospital (as measured by time taken to fetch water) were insured compared to 87 per cent who were uninsured. For those far away from the hospital, only 2 per cent were insured, while 98 per cent were not. This is expected since one would consider, first, the availability of health infrastructure before taking up health insurance.

Characteristics	Total	Insured (%)	Not Insured (%)
Mother's age			
15-2-1-1	2,624	1.87	98.13
25-34=2	7.776	5-57	94.43
>=35=3	12,109	6.42	93.58
Highest Level of ed	ucation		
No education=0	5-347	0.26	99-24
Primary'=1	12.537	2.69	97.31
Secondary=2	3.65"	:1.89	SS.11
Post-secondary=3	968	48.86	51.14
Area of residence		END OF THE REPORT	and the second second second
Rural≠ı	17,845	3.60	96.40
Urban=2	4,664	13.23	80.37
Gender of the hous	ehold head		
Male=1	14,445	5.79	94.21
Female=2	8.064	5.23	94.77
Wealth Index	(1) (b)		and the state of the second
Poor=1	10.453	0.55	99.45
Middle=2	4,211	3.75	96.25
Rich=3	7.8.15	13.31	86.69
Employment statu	2	and the second sec	
Yes=1	14,337	7.31	92.69
Nu=0.	8,080	2.55	97.45
Distance to hospita	al (proxied by time)	to fetch water)	
Premises=1	6,164	13.30	86.70
<1 hour	11.790	2.88	97.12
>=1 hour	4,205	1.69	98.31

Table 4.2: Health insurance status	by selected sam	ple characteristics
------------------------------------	-----------------	---------------------

Source: Author's computation

4.2 Empirical Results

4.2.1 Effect of health insurance on child health

The results of the effect of health insurance and other control variables on child mortality are reported in Table 4.3. The dependent variable is binary in nature, the outcome of which is either the child survives the first five years of life(1) or the child dies before celebrating the fifth birthday (0). Thus, the logistic regression model is used in estimating the likelihood of a child surviving the first five years of life. The key independent variable of interest in this model is the health insurance status of individuals in a household. As expected, health insurance status has a positive effect on child health. The results indicate that health insurance increases the probability of a child survival by 2 per cent. However, the effect is not significant. These findings are in line with findings by Dow *et al.* (2003) and Dow and Schmeer (2003), but contradict Currie and Gruber (1996). The inconsistent findings could probably be explained by the quality and extent of coverage of health insurance in different countries. For instance, this study uses the latest available KDHS data set, which was collected during a period in which the National Health Insurance Fund (NHIF), to which majority of the respondents (53%) belong, did not cover outpatient services for the principal members and their dependants. This may not be the case in developed countries such as in the US where health insurance has been extended to the low income children (Currie and Gruber, 1996).

Other control variables were considered in the analysis based on existing literature. Distance to a health facility is one of the factors that affects access to health care, hence the health outcomes of a population. Since the survey did not collect data on distance to hospital, this study used time taken to fetch water as a proxy for this variable (Adeoti and Awoniyi, 2012). The regression results show that the variable has a negative and significant effect on chances of child survival. Less than one hour distance to hospital decreases the chance of child survival by 8 per cent, relative to having a hospital nearer one's premises. Similarly, at least one hour distance to hospital decreases the probability of child survival by 7.7 per cent. Geographical accessibility of health care facility has been identified as a barrier to health care utilization (Kadobera *et al.*, 2012). This is mainly because long distances lead to both high transport and time costs. Besides, it is a barrier to uptake of health insurance as was hypothesized by Dow and Schmeer (2003) and as observed in the descriptive results.

Malaria is one of the causes of child morbidity and mortality in Kenya. We therefore consider use of treated bed nets as a proxy for a household's preventive behaviour against malaria. From the results, having treated bed nets as opposed to none has a positive but insignificant effect on the probability of child survival. This may be explained by low usage of insecticide treated nets as has been observed in some parts of the country (Alaii *et al.*, 2003)

The wealth index, which is a measure of household income, has positive effect as expected. In comparison with the poor wealth index, being in the middle wealth index increases the probability of child survival by a small percentage of 0.1 per cent, although the effect is not significant. Holding other factors constant, being in the rich wealth index as opposed to the poor wealth index significantly increases the probability of child survival by about 4 per cent. Surprisingly, being in employment as opposed to unemployment decreases the probability of child survival by approximately 8 per cent. In literature, this is possible depending on the occupation and the nature of employment. Studies, for instance, have indicated that labour force participation by mothers may actually lead to lower chances of child survival, if the nature of work reduces the time taken to take care of the child (Basu and Basu, 1991).

The education variable has a positive effect on the probability of child survival as expected. Primary level of education of the household head increases the chances of child survival by 0.3 per cent relative to no education, but the effect is not significant. The effects of secondary and post-secondary education are both significant. Moving from no education to secondary education increases the chance of a child's survival by 11 per cent. The effect of post-secondary education is phenomenal, with the group increasing the probability of child survival by about 18 per cent relative to no education.

Other household characteristics included in the analysis were area of residence, gender of household head and number of household members. Although being female head and urban resident increases the chance of survival of the under-five by 1.5 per cent and 1 per cent, respectively, the results are not significant. From the results, household size represented by the number of members in a household is negatively related to the probability of child survival. A one unit increase in number of household members significantly decreases the probability of child survival by 1.2 per cent. This is expected as large families compete for the few available resources.

On demographic characteristics, the results show that a higher age group of the mother decreases the chance of child survival. Relative to mothers aged between 15 and 24 years, the age group significantly decreases the probability of child survival by 25 per cent and 72 per cent, respectively, for ages between 25 and 34 and over 35 years. Contrary to many studies that indicate that an increase in the age group of the mother increases the chances of a child's survival, this study finds that child mortality increases with the mother's age. This is probably due to the fact that most elderly mothers are also in employment, which has been associated with higher child mortality in our earlier findings.

The results also indicate that a female child is likely to survive to the fifth year compared to their male counterparts. Being a female child, for instance, increases the probability of survival by 2 per cent. On the other hand, single births have a higher probability of survival (33%) in relation to multiple births. The higher likelihood of child survival among the females as well as single births has been associated with biological reasons (Kombo and Ginneken, 2009). Holding other factors constant, a unit increase in birth order significantly increases the probability of child survival by approximately 7 per cent.

Independent	Coefficients (Logit)	Marginal effects	Odds ratio
Health insurance status	0.130 (0.18)	0.020 (0.03)	1.14 (0.21)
Wealth index (refer	ence group: Poor)		
Middle	0.007 (0.09)	0.001 (0.01)	1.01 (0.09)
Rich	0.275* (0.10)	0.043* (0.01)	L32* (0.14)
Education level (ref	erence group: No educ	ation)	
Primay	0.022 (0.09)	0.003 (0.01)	.1.02.(0.09)
Secondary	0.827* (0.13)	0.110* (0.01)	2.29*(0.29)
Post-secondary	1.934* (0.24)	0.175* (0.01)	6.91* (1.68)
Employment status	-0.490* (0.07)	-0.076* (0.01)	0.61* (0.04)
Area of meiglenges	0.067 (0.11)	0.011 (0.02)	1.07 (0.11)
Number of household members	-0.077* (0.01)	-0.012*(0.002)	0.08* (0.02)
Gender of household head	0.093 (0.07)	0.015 (0.01)	1.10 (0.08)
Child gender	0.147** (0.06)	0.023**(0.01)	1.16** (0.07)
viwin birth		Q.330 [*] (0.04)	4.64* (0.67)
Birth order	·0.419* (0.02)	0.067* (0.003)	1.52*(0.03)
biother's age group.	reference group: 15-24	ycars)	
25-34	-1.452* (0.10)	-0.245* (0.02)	0.23* (0.02)
235	-3.886* (0.12)	-0.721* (0.01)	0.02 (0.002)
Distance to hospital	-proxied by time to feto	ch water (Reference g	roup=premises)
Less than one hour	-0.517* (0.09)	-0.081* (0.01)	.0.60* (0.05)
One hour or more	-0.447* (0.12)	-0.077* (0.02)	0.64* (0.07)
Sentention	0.144*** (0.09)	0.023*** (0.01)	1.16*** (0.10)
Bed nets	0.034 9(0.06)	0.005 (0.01)	1.03 (0.07)
Cun-him	-0.452 (0.32)	and the second s	

Table 4.3: Effect of health insu	ance on child mortality-Logit results
----------------------------------	---------------------------------------

Log likelihood = -3181.9841; Number of observations = 7488; LR chi2(19)=2186.85; Prob > chi2 = 0.0000; Pseudo R2 = 0.2557

Source: Author's computation from KDHS

*, **, *** significant at 1%, 5% and 10%, respectively; Standard errors in parenthesis,

A household environmental factor considered in this study is sanitation as indicated by whether a household has a toilet facility or not. Having sanitation significantly increases the probability of child survival by 2 per cent as opposed to having none. The findings on the role of household environment on child health is in line with findings by Fayehun (2010) and Mutunga (2007).

4.2.2 Effect of health insurance on maternal health

Table 4.4 presents the results of the logistic regression model showing the effect of health insurance and other covariates on maternal health as measured by utilization of skilled birth attendance during delivery. Health insurance status, which is a key variable in this study, has significant effect on the maternal health. Being insured as opposed to uninsured significantly increases the probability of skilled birth attendance by 25%. Since skilled birth attendance is highly correlated with delivery in a health facility (Appendix Table 1), the implication of these results is that health insurance is important in improving maternal health by increasing the chance of delivering in a health facility (Xiao *et al.*, 2010; Mensah *et al.*, 2010).

Distance to hospital decreases the likelihood of skilled birth attendance. Taking the reference category as those individuals nearer to hospital premises, less than an hour distance to the hospital decreases the probability of skilled birth attendance by 21 per cent. Similarly, at least one hour distance to hospital decreases the chance of seeking skilled birth attendance by 17 per cent. This variable has been reported to be a significant determinant in utilization of maternal health services.

Other socio-economic factors were found to have a significant effect on maternal health. They include wealth index, employment status and education. The probability of skilled birth attendance is positively related with wealth index. Compared with mothers from poor wealth index, those from the middle wealth index are likely to seek skilled birth attendance by 12 per cent. The probability further increases for those in the rich wealth index by 17 per cent. Similarly, being in employment increases the probability of skilled birth attendance by about 5 per cent as opposed to being unemployed.

The probability of choosing skilled birth attendance increases with level of education. Primary level of education in comparison with no education increases the probability of skilled birth attendance by 16 per cent. Secondary and post-secondary levels of education increase the probability of skilled birth attendance by 34 per cent and 42 per cent, respectively. The education, employment and wealth index variables positively influence the decision making powers of women about their own health and that of their counterparts (Mpembeni *et al.*, 2007).

Among the household characteristics, a unit increase in number of household members decreases the probability of skilled birth attendance by 0.3 per cent. On the other hand, female headed households have a higher chance of seeking skilled birth attendance (2%) compared to male headed households. The results of the two variables are however not significant. An urban resident significantly increases the chance of skilled birth attendance by 18 per cent compared to rural residence. This can be attributed to access issues in rural areas as well as beliefs and attitudes (Baral *et al.*, 2010).

Independent Variables	Coefficients (Logit)	Marginal Effects	Odds ratio
Health insurance status	1.028* (0.22)	0.249* (0.05)	2.80* (0.61)
Wealth index (reference	e group: Poor)	and a second contraction of the	Lipication Sources
Middle	0.470* (0.09)	0.117* (0.02)	1.60* (0.14)
Pall and an analysis of a strain of a	0.688* (0.09)	0.169 (0.02)	1.99* (Q.18)
Education level (referen	ice group: No educati	on)	
Panag	0.666 (0.09)	0.161 (0.02)	1.95 (0.18)
Secondary	1.430* (0.12)	0.340* (0.02)	4.18° (0.49)
rost scondary	1.950 (0.24)	0. 21 0.0	.03* (1.73)
Employment status	0.202* (0.07)	0.049* (0.02)	1.22* (0.08)
Area of residence	0.714* (0.09)	0.175" (0.02)	0.49 (0.05)
Number of household members	-0.010 (0.01)	-0.003 (0.004)	0.99 (0.01)
Gender of household head	0.083 (0.07)	0.020 (0.02)	1.09 (0.08.)
Birth order	-0.130* (0.03)	-0.032* (0.006)	0.88* (0.02)
Mother's age group (referer	tee group: 15-24 years)	and the second second	
25-34	0.077 (0.09)	0.0189 (0.02)	1.08 (0.10)
A second s	0,216 (0.16)	0.053 (0.04)	1.24 (0.19)
Mother's age at first birth	0.028** (0.01)	0.007** (0.00)	1.03** (0.01)
DISHINGIN HUSDIN DUNI	silloy time to letch water	(Reference group=pren	mses)
Less than one hour	-0.850* (0.08)	-0.207* (0.02)	0.43* (0.03)
	_0_26 2 (0,U)	-0.171 (0.02)	0,18 (0.05)
Constant	0.163 (0.34)	1 2+3	

Table 4.4: Effect of health insurance on utilization of skilled birth attendance-Logit results

Source: Author's computation from KDHS

*, **, significant at 1% and 5% respectively; Standard errors in parenthesis

Considering the demographic characteristics, the effect of mothers' age group on probability of skilled birth attendance is positive, but insignificant. In relation to younger mothers aged between 15 and 24 years of age, those aged between 35 and 34 years of age have about 2 per cent probability of seeking skilled birth attendance. Among women aged above 35 years of age, the probability of seeking skilled birth attendance was higher by 5 per cent. However, a look at the mother's age at first birth shows that this variable significantly increases the chance of seeking birth attendance by 0.7 per cent. A unit increase in birth order significantly decreases the probability of skilled birth attendance by 3 per cent.

5. Conclusion and Policy Recommendations

5.1 Conclusion

This study examined the effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes. Child heath was proxied using child mortality, while skilled birth attendance was used as a measure of maternal health. The logistic regression model was estimated using the 2008-2009 KDHS data. The results do not find a significant effect of health insurance on child health. Health insurance, however, is significant in improving maternal health.

Other important traditional determinants that significantly improve both child and maternal health include: distance to health facility, wealth index, employment status and education, especially post-secondary level of education. Area of residence also significantly affects child as well as maternal health. Individual child characteristics such as gender and single birth as well as environmental characteristics, mainly sanitation, are important in determining child health. With regard to maternal health, age at first birth matters.

5.2 Policy Recommendations

Enhance the uptake of health insurance

The improvement in maternal health as a result of increased use of skilled birth attendance calls for policy strategies that will enhance uptake of health insurance. The government should consider introducing a compulsory uptake of health insurance, while subsidizing for the poor who cannot afford to pay the premiums. Uptake of health insurance may also be achieved through improved education attainment and increased labour force participation. and enhancing poverty reduction strategies. Increase in the uptake of health insurance will not only contribute to better health outcomes, but also improve the revenue collected by the health sector. This can in turn be used to improve health infrastructure.

Ensure even distribution of health facilities

To improve health outcomes of the entire population, especially the vulnerable groups including mothers and children, there is need to ensure even distribution of health facilities. This will reduce distance to health facilities, which in turn decreases the household financial burden arising from transport and time costs. This can be done effectively through public private partnerships. In addition, revenue from health insurance may be channeled to improve health infrastructure.

Public private partnerships

Due to financial burden, health care cannot be provided entirely by the government. Public private partnerships should be encouraged to enhance efficient and effective provision of health care, even in the area of health insurance. While focusing on development of Kenya National Social Health Insurance, the government should also encourage the growth of other forms of health prepayment schemes, including private and community based health insurance. However, this should be coupled with enhancing competitive behaviour to encourage development of inventive and affordable insurance policy covers.

Education and public awareness/behaviour change

Given that majority of mothers have primary level of education, there is need to strengthen measures that ensure access to secondary as well as post-secondary education. Health awareness campaigns by the government and scheme providers through various channels, including the media, should be conducted to inform and encourage behaviour change among the less educated.

Employment and poverty reduction strategies

The socio-economic and employment status significantly affects both child and maternal health status. Poverty reduction strategies should be enhanced by creating opportunities that enhance income generation. While creation of employment is important for enhancing maternal health, there is need to ensure flexibility in maternal labour force participation so as to grant maximum care to the children.

5.3 Areas for Further Research

The study did not find any significant effect of health insurance on child health. There is need to investigate the effect using other measures of child health including nutritional status.

References

- Abalo, K. (2009), "Poverty and Anthropometric Status of Children: A Comparative Analysis of Rural and Urban Households in Togo," AERC Research Paper 191.
- Adeoti, A. and Awonoyi, B. (2012). Determinants of Child and Maternal Health Status and Demand for Health Care Services in Nigeria, Available at https://editorialexpress.com/cgi-bin/conference/download.cgi?db.
- Alaii, A., Hawley, A., Kolczak, S., Ter Kuille, O., Gimnig, E., Vulule, M., Odacha, A., Oloo, J., Nahlen, L. and Phillips-Howard, A. (2003), "Factors Affecting Use of Permethrin-Treated Bed Nets during a Randomized Controlled Trial in Western Kenya," *The American Society of Tropical Medicine and Hygiene*, 68 (Suppl 4), pp 137–141.
- Arrow, K. (1963), "Uncertainty and the Welfare Economics of Medical Care", *American Economic Review*, Vol. 53, pp 941-73.
- Alaii, A., Hawley, A., Kolczak, S., Ter Kuille, O., Gimnig, E., Vulule, M., Odacha, A.,
 Oloo, J., Nahlen, L. and Phillips-Howard, A. (2006), "Health Insurance
 Coverage and the Risk of Decline in Overall Health and Death among the
 Near Elderly, 1992-2002," *Medical Care*, Vol. 44, No.3, pp 277-282.
- Baral, R., Lyons, K., Skinner, J. and Van Teinjleng, R. (2010), "Determinants of Skilled Birth Attendants for Delivery in Nepal," *Kathmandu University Medical Journal*, Vol. 8 (31): 325-332.
- Barnes, J., O'Hanlon, B., Feeley III, F., McKeon., K., Gitonga, N. and Decker, C. (2010), "Private Health Sector Assessment in Kenya," World Bank Working Paper No. 193, Washington DC.
- Basu, M. and Basu, K. (1991), "Women's Economic Roles and Child Survival: The Case of India," *Health Transition Review*, Vol. 1(1), pp 83–103.
- Beauchamp, D. (1976), "Public Health as Social Justice," *Inquiry*, Vol. 13, No.1, pp 3-14.
- Bhutta, Z., Chopra, M., Axelson, H, Berman, P., Boerma, T., Bryce, J., Bustreo, F., Cavagnero, E., Cometto, G., Daelmans, B., Francisco, A., Fogstad, H., Gupta, N., Laski, L., Lawn, J., Maliqi, B., Mason, E., Pitt; C., Requejo, J., Starrs, A., Victoria, C. and Wardlaw, T. (2012), "Mutual Health Insurance and its Contribution to Improving Child Health in Rwanda," *Passauer Diskussionspapiere: Volkswirtschaftliche Reihe*, No. V-66-12, http://hdl.handle.net10419/66213.

- Bhutta, Z., Chopra, M., Axelson, H., Berman, P., Boerma, T., Bryce, J., Bustreo, F., Cavagnero, E., Cometto, G., Daelmans, B., Francisco, A., Fogstad, H., Gupta, N., Laski, L., Lawn, J., Maliqi, B., Mason, E., Pitt, C., Requejo, J., Starrs, A., Victoria, C. and Wardlaw, T. (2010), "Countdown to 2015 Decade Report (2000-10): Taking Stock of Maternal, Newborn, and Child Survival," Lancet, Vol. 375, 2032-44.
- Chen, Y. and Jin, G. (2010), "Does Health Insurance Coverage Lead to Better Health and Educational Outcomes? Evidence from Rural China," National Bureau of Economic Research Working Paper No. 16, 417, Available at http://www.nber.org/papers/w16417.
- Chen, L., Yip, W., Chang, C., Lin, S., Lee, D., Chiu, L. and Lin, H. (2006), "The Effects of Taiwan's National Health Insurance on Access and Health Status of the Elderly," *Health Economics*, DOI: 10.1002/hec.1160.
- Chuma, J. et al. (2009), "Reducing User Fees for Primary Health Care in Kenya:
 Policy on Paper or Policy in Practice?" International Journal for Equity in Health, Vol. 8, No.15.
- Currie, J. and Gruber, J. (1996), "Health Insurance Eligibility, Utilization of Medical Care and Child Health," *The Quarterly Journal of Economics*.
- Carrin, G., James, C., Adelhardt, M., Doetinchem, O., Eriki, P., Hassan, M., Hombergh, H., Kirigia, J., Koemm, B., Korte, R., Krech, R., Lankers, C., Lente, J., Maina, T., Malonza, K., Mathauer, I., Okeyo, T., Muchiri, S., Mumani, Z., Nganda, B., Nyikal, J., Onsongo, J., Rakuom, C., Schramm, B., Scheil-Adlung, X., Stierle, F., Whitaker, D. and Zipperer, M. (2007), "Health Financing Reform in Kenya–Assessing the Social Health Insurance Proposal," *South African Medical Journal*, Vol. 97, pp 130-135.
- Cutler, D. and Zeckhauser, R. (2000), "The Anatomy of Health Insurance" in Culver, A., Newhouse, J. *Handbook for Health Economics*, Elsevier, Vol. 1, Part A, pp 563-643.
- Daniels, N. (1981), "Healthcare Needs and Distributive Justice," *Philosophy & Public Affairs*, Vol. 10, No. 2, pp 146-179.
- Daniels, N., Kennedy, P. and Kawachi, I. (1999), "Why Justice Is Good for Our Health: The Social Determinants of Health Inequalities," *Bioethics and Beyond*, Vol. 128 (4): 215-251.
- Department of International Development-Df1D (2009), "Reducing User Fees: Implementation Challenges and a Possible Solution," Centre for Research and Education in Human Services (CHEHS), Policy Brief www.crehs. Ishtm.ac.uk.

- Dow, W. and Schmeer, K. (2003), "Health Insurance and Child Mortality in Costa Rica," *Social Science and Medicine*, Vol. 57, pp 975-986.
- Drouin, A. (2007), Methods of Financing Health Care: A Rational Use of Financing Mechanisms to Achieve Universal Coverage, International Social Security Association Technical Report 05.
- Ekman, B. (2007), "The Impact of Health Insurance on Outpatient Utilization and Expenditure: Evidence from One Middle-Income Country Using National Household Survey Data," *Health Research Policy and Systems* 5:6 doi: 10.1186/1478-4505-5-6.
- Fayehun, A. (2010), "Household Environmental Health Hazards and Child Survival in Sub-Saharan Africa," DHS Working Papers No. 74, Calverton, Maryland, USA: ICF Macro.
- Franks, P., Clancy, M. and Gold, M. (1993), "Health Insurance and Mortality: Evidence from a National Cohort," *Journal of the American Medical Association*, Vol. 270, No.6, pp 737–741.
- Franks, P., Clancy, C., Gold, M. and Nutting, P. (1993), "Health Insurance and Subjective Health Status: Data from the 1987 National Medical Expenditure Survey," *American Journal of Public Health*, Vol. 83, pp 1295-1299.
- Gakii, J. (2010), "Demand for Health Care in Kenya: An Empirical Analysis of the Role of Insurance," Nairobi: Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research and Analysis.
- Gnawali, P., Pokherel, S., Sanon, M., De Allegri, M., Souares, A., Dong, H. and Sauerborn, R. (2009), "The Effect of Community-Based Health Insurance on the Utilization of Modern Health Care Services: Evidence from Burkina Faso," *Health Policy*, Vol. 90:214-222.
- Gobah, F. and Liang, Z. (2011), "The National Health Insurance Scheme in Ghana: Prospects and Challenges: A Cross Sectional Evidence," *Global Journal of Health Science*, Vol. 3, No.2.
- Government of Kenya (2010), "Accessible, Affordable and Quality Healthcare Services in Kenya: Financing Options for Universal Coverage," Ministry of Medical Services and Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation.
- Government of Kenya (2005), Kenya Integrated Household Budget Survey (KIHBS).
- Government of Kenya (2007), Kenya Vision 2030: A Globally Competitive and Prosperous Kenya, Nairobi: Ministry of Planning and National Development and the National Economic and Social Council (NESC).

- Government of Kenya (2009), Kenya Household Health Expenditure and Utilization Survey Report 2007, Ministry of Medical Services & Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation.
- Government of Kenya (2010), Accessible, Affordable and Quality Healthcare Services in Kenya: Financing Options for Universal Coverage, Ministry of Medical Services & Ministry of Public Health and Sanitation.
- Government of Kenya (2010a), Kenya National Health Accounts 2009/10.
- Government of Kenya (2010b), "Maternal Deaths on the Rise in Kenya: A Call to Save Women's Lives," National Coordinating Agency for Population & Development, June Policy Brief, No. 9.
- Grossman, M. (1972), "On the Concept of Health Capital and the Demand for Health," Journal of Political Economy, Vol. 80(2): 223-255.
- Hadley, J. (2003), "Sicker and Poorer: The Consequences of Being Uninsured: A Review of the Research on the Relationship between Health Insurance, Medical Care Use, Health, Work and Income," Medical Care Research and Review, Available at http://mcr.sagepub.com/content/60/2suppl/3s. refs.html.
- Hanrantty, M. (1996), "Canadian National Health Insurance and Infant Health," *The American Economic Review*, Vol. 86, No.1, pp 276-284.
- Hullegie, P. and Klein, T. (2010), "The Effect of Private Health Insurance on Medical Care Utilization and Self-Assessed Health in Germany," *Health Economics*, Vol. 19, pp 1048-1062.
- Jütting, J. (2003), "Do Community Based Health Insurance Schemes Improve Poor People's Access to Health Care? Evidence from Rural Senegal," World Development, Vol. 32 No.2, pp 273-288.
- Kadobera, D., Sartorius, B., Masanja, H., Mathew, A. and Waiswa, P. (2012), "The Effect of Distance to Formal Health Facility on Childhood Mortality in Rural Tanzania, 2005-2007," *Glob Health Action* 5: 19099 -http://dx.doi. org/10.3402/gha.v5i0.19099.
- Kahneman, D. and Tversky, A. (1979), "An Analysis of Decision under Risk," *Econometrica*, Vol. 47, No.2, pp 263-292.
- Kasule, O. (2012), "Health Insurance and the Ethical Issue of Equity," Journal of Taibah University Medical Sciences, Available at http://dx.doi. org/10.1016/j.jtumed.

- Keng, S. and Sheu, S. (2012), "The Effect of National Health Insurance on Mortality and the Ses-Health Gradient: Evidence from the Elderly in Taiwan," in *Health Economics*, DOI: 10.1002/hec.1815.
- Kenya Institute for Public Policy Research Analysis (2010), Kenya Economic Report 2010: Enhancing Sectoral Contribution towards Reducing Poverty, Unemployment and Inequality in Kenya, Nairobi.
- Kenya National Bureau of Statistics (2010), Kenya Demographic and Health Survey 2008-2009, Calvento, Maryland: KNBS and ICF Macro.
- Kimani, D. N., Muthaka, D. I. and Manda, D. K. (2004), "Healthcare Financing Though Health Insurance in Kenya: The Shift to a National Social Health Insurance Fund," KIPPRA Discussion Paper No. 42, Nairobi: KIPPRA.
- King, G., Gakidou, E., Imai, K., Lakin, J., Moore R., Nall, C., Ravishankar, N., Vargas, M., Telles-Rojo, M., Avila, E., Avila, M. and Llamas, H. (2009), "Public Policy for the Poor? A Randomised Assessment of the Mexican Universal Health Insurance Programme," in *Lancet*, Vol.373, pp 1447– 54, doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(09)60239-7.
- Kombo, J. and Ginneken, V. (2009), "Determinants of Infant and Child Mortality in Zimbabwe: Results and Multivariate Analysis," *Demographic Research*, Vol. 21 (13): pp 367-384.
- Lagarde, M. and Palmer, N. (2008), "The Impact of User Fees on Health Service Utilization in Low and Middle Income Countries: How Strong is the Evidence?" in *Bulletin of World Health Organisation*, Vol. 86, pp 839– 848.
- Lei, X. and Lin, W. (2009), "The New Cooperative Medical Scheme in Rural China: Does More Coverage Mean More Service and Better Health?" *Health Economics* Vol. 18: S25–S46, doi: 10.1002/hec.1501.
- Leive, A. and Xu, K. (2008), "Coping with Out-of-Pocket Health Payments: Empirical Evidence from 15 African Countries," in *Bulletin of World Health Organization*, Vol. 86, pp 849-856.
- Levy, H., Meltzer D. (2001), "What Do We Really know About Whether Health Insurance Affects Health?" *Health Policy and the Uninsured* by Catherine G. McLaughlin.
- Levy, H. and Meltzer, D. (2008), "The Impact of Health Insurance on Health," Annual Review Public Health, Vol. 29, pp 399-409.

- Mathauer, I., Schmidt, J. and Wenyaa, M. (2008), "Extending Social Health Insurance to the Informal Sector in Kenya: An Assessment of Factors Affecting Demand," *International Journal of Health Planning and Management*, Vol. 23, pp 51-68.
- Mbugua, K., Bloom, H. and Segall, M. (1995), "Impact of User Charges on Vulnerable Groups: The Case of Kibwezi in Rural Kenya," *Social Science Medicine*, Vol. 41(6): 829-835.
- Mensah, J. *et al.* (2010), "Ghana's National Health Insurance Scheme in the Context of the Health MDGs: An Empirical Evaluation Using Propensity Score Matching," *Health Economics*, Vol. 19, pp 95-106.
- Mpembeni, R., Killewo, J., Leshabari, M., Massawe, S., Jahn, A., Mushi, D. and Mwakipa, H. (2007), "Use Pattern of Maternal Health Services and Determinants of Skilled Care during Delivery in Southern Tanzania: Implications for Achievement of MDG-5 Targets," *BMC Pregnancy and Childbirth*, Vol. 7(29), doi: 10.1186/1471-2393-7-29.
- Mutunga, C. (2007), "Environmental Determinants of Child Mortality in Kenya," Research Paper No. 2007/83, UNU-WIDER.
- Murray, T. (1992), "Genetics and the Moral Mission of Health Insurance," The Hastings Center Report, Vol. 22, No. 6, pp. 12-1.
- Mwabu, G., Mwanzia, J. and Liambila, W. (1995), "Charges in Government Health Facilities in Kenya: Effect on Attendance and Revenue," *Health Policy and Planning*, Vol. 10, pp 164-170.
- Ngugi, R. (1999), "Health Seeking Behaviour in the Reform Process for Rural Households: The Case of Mwea Division, Kirinyaga District, Kenya," AERC Research Paper 95, Nairobi.
- Nyman, J. A. (1999), "The Value of Health Insurance: The Access Motive", *Journal* of Health Economics, Vol. 18, pp 141-52.
- Owii, S. (2008), "Community Based Health Care Financing in Kenya," *Chak Times*, Issue No. 28.
- Pabblo, G. and Schieber, G. (2006), "Health Financing Revisited: A Practitioners' Guide," Washington DC: World Bank.
- Pauly, M. (1968), "The Economics of Moral Hazard: Comment," The American Economic Review, Vol. 58 (3): pp 531-537.
- Ruger, J. (2007), "The Moral Foundations of Health Insurance," *Q J Med.*, Vol. 100, pp 53-57.

- Saksena, P., Xu, K. and Carrin, G. (2006), "The Impact of Universal Insurance on Catastrophic health Expenditure: Simulation Analysis for Kenya," EIP/ HSF Discussion Paper Series No. 8, Geneva: WHO.
- Schneider, P. and Dmytraczenko, T. (2003), "Improving Access to Maternal Health Care through Insurance," Issue in Brief, Partners for Health Reformplus.
- Sepehri, A. and Chernomas, R. (2001), "Are User Charges Efficiency and Equity-Enhancing? A Critical Review of Economic Literature with Particular Reference to Experience from Developing Countries," Journal of International Development, Vol. 13, pp 183-209.
- Sosa-Rubi, S. G., O. Galarraga and Lopez-Riduaura, R. (2009), "Diabetes Treatment and Control: The Effect of Public Health Insurance for the Poor in Mexico," Bulletin of World Health Organization, Vol. 87 (7): 512-519.
- United Nations Development Programme (2011), Human Development Report and Statistics, Available at http://hdr.undp.org/en/reports/glogal/ HDR2011.
- Wagstaff, A. and Pradhan, M. (2005), "Health Insurance Impacts on Health and Non Medical Consumption in a Developing Country," Policy Research Working Paper Series, World Bank Policy Research Working Paper 3563.
- Wang, H., Yip, W., Zhang, L. and Hsiao, C. (2009), "The Impact of Rural Mutual Health Care on Health Status: Evaluation of a Social Experiment in Rural China," *Health Economics*, Vol. 18, pp S65–S82.
- World Health Organization (2000), Health System: Improving Performance, World Health Report 2000, Washington DC: World Bank.
- World Health Organization (2007), Fact Sheet: Paying for Health Services, February
- World Health Organization (2010), World Health Statistics, Geneva.

World Health Organization (2011), World Health Statistics, Geneva.

- Xiao, S., Yan, H., Shen, Y., Shaonong Dang, S., Hemminki, E., Wang, D., Long, Q. and Gao, J. (2010), "Utilization of Delivery Care among Rural Women in China: Does the Health Insurance Make a Difference? A Cross Sectional Study," BMC Public Health, Vol. 10, pp 695.
- Xu, K., Evans, D., Kawabata K., Zeramdini R., Klavus J. and Murray C. (2003),
 "Household Catastrophic Health Expenditure: A Multicountry Analysis," Lancet, Vol. 362, pp 111-117.

Effect of health insurance on child and maternal health outcomes in Kenya

 Zhou, Z., Gao, J., Xue, Q., Yang, X. and Yan, J. (2009), "Effects of Rural Mutual Health Care on Outpatient Service Utilization in Chinese Village Medical Institutions: Evidence from Panel Data," *Health Economics*, Vol. 18, S129–S136.

Appendix

Appendix 1	able 1: C	orrelat	JON MIA	urix										
	Skilled birth attendance	Residence	Education	Number of household members	Gender of head	lisaith	Mother's age	Distance 1a hospital	Wealth Index	Employed	Rirth order	Ac at first birth	Place of Delivery	child alive
Skilled birth attendance	-	And the second					-							
Residence	0.3638	1.46		210						and a family and	and the state	de cales a		
Fiducation	0.4087	-0.2447	1											
Number of household members	-0.1855	0.2152	-0.18;45	-									The state of	
Gender of household head	6810.0-	0.0616	-0.0577	-0.1395	-								August Story and a	and Barrey and Andrew
Health insurance	0.2170	-0.1763	0.3538	-0.0610	1820-0-	-		-				1 2 1 1 1	A MARY - THE	
Mother's age group	-0.0384	0.0884	-0.0027	0:241	663:0-0	0.0976	-	10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 - 10 -			the second second			B
Distance to hospital	-0.3547	0.3818	+16E.0-	0.1642	0.0748	75.91.0	2100-0	-	and the second se		and and		and the second second	a state
Wealth Index	1844.0	10.5994	0.45.42	-0.2543	5010.0-	0.2336	-0.0875	-0.4412	-	A. P.Land	-			Kan June
Employed	0.0990	0.0133	0.2160	0.0058	0.0120	0.1032	0-1340	67.0.0-	0.0671			and a second		
Birth order	-0:2420	0.2388	-0.2657	0121-0	0.0075	-0.0715	0.6716	0.1843	6162.0-	0.0824	-		an and all had not	Here want have been
Age at first birth	0.2380	-0.1862	0:3570	-0.1536	-0.0227	0.2601	0.3049	1-12-0-	67770	0.0578	-0.455	1	In a subset	No. of Concession, Name
Place of delivery	0.8703	0.3890	0.4592	1181.0-	LEForo-	FotEro	9610.0-	-03250	0.45%4	0.0404	-05450	86,270	t - I	Te de Le
Child alive	-0.0026	-0.0158	0.0080	-0.0863	F£ooro-	6110-0-	0.0200	-0.0285	0.0162	-01-0-	12.20.0-	0.0274	0.00,00	- and and
Source: Comp	nuted from	n KDHS												